IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

NOV 17 1995

			1,01
MICHAEL L. ROBINSON,)	CLE	CK, SUPPLEME GOURT
Appellant,)	By	Chief Comity Clark
vs.)	CASE NUMBER	85,605
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.))		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

- (R) The record on appeal consisting of four volumes:

 Volume I transcript of plea proceedings; Volume II transcript of penalty proceedings; Volume III transcript of sentencing; and Volume IV pleadings;
- (SR) The supplemental record consisting of: Volume I transcript of video arraignment; Volume II transcript of October 12, 1995 motion hearing; and Volume III transcript of October 4, 1995 motion hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 22, 1994, the Spring Term Grand Jury of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, indicted Michael Lee Robinson for the premeditated murder of Jane Silvia. (R115-16)

On September 26, 1994, Appellant filed a Motion to Retain Experts for Mental Status Examination of the Defendant. (R135-36) Counsel referred to information that indicated a necessity to determine whether Robinson suffered from organic brain damage and/or other mental problems. (R135) The trial court granted Appellant's motion. (R137)

Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions which subsequently became moot when Robinson decided to plead guilty, waive a jury, and request the death penalty. On January 23, 1995, the Appellant withdrew his previous plea of not guilty and tendered a plea of guilty as charged to first-degree murder. (R1-39,225-27) As a precautionary measure, the trial court ordered a second psychiatric examination by Dr. Kirkland. (R2-5,244-45)

Prior to the plea colloquy, Appellant's counsel explained that Michael Robinson did not wish to proceed to trial, did not wish to present any defense, did not want his lawyers to file any

Actually, Robinson decided shortly after his arrest that he deserved to die for the murder of his friend. (R237-38) Early in the proceedings, the lawyers indicated that Robinson would probably be seeking the death penalty in this case. (SR25-27)

Prior to entering the guilty plea, defense counsel requested a second psychiatric evaluation, making the plea "contingent upon that just to cover all of our posteriors." (R2)

motions on his behalf, and did not want to present any mitigation at the penalty phase. Michael Robinson wanted to die and was "seeking the death penalty in this case." (R6) Defense counsel maintained that certain defenses could be raised and that this case is "not necessarily a death penalty case." (R6) Defense counsel believed there were a number of ways they could assist Robinson. However, Robinson did not want any help and asked to die. (R7)

The The trial court conducted a plea colloquy. (R8-18) State set forth a factual basis on the record. (R18-22) 25, 1994, Jane Silvia (Robinson's girlfriend) did not report for work. An investigation revealed Michael Robinson to be a suspect. Under police questioning, Robinson initially told detectives that five drug dealers had entered the apartment he shared with Silvia and murdered her. On August 16, Robinson contacted Detective Griffin and admitted his guilt. Robinson explained that several days before the murder, he stole Silvia's VCR, television, and microwave and traded them for drugs. Silvia had reported the theft to police but did not press charges at the time. (R13) Silvia hoped that Robinson would return her property and everything would work out. Police said that she had seven days to call back and initiate charges. 228-40; State Exhibit Nos. 1 and 2) The couple attempted to retrieve the property but it had already been sold.

After their futile attempt to retrieve Silvia's property, the couple returned to the apartment, Jane Silvia went to sleep

on the couch. Robinson went out to his truck and got a drywall hammer. Robinson returned to the apartment and watched Silvia sleep, thinking about what he was going to do. Robinson then hit Silvia in the head with the hammer as she slept. The hammer went through Silvia's skull. (R19-20) Robinson hit her a second time. He then hit her a third time using the claw end of the In an effort to stop her heart, Robinson stabbed hammer. (R20) Silvia through the neck with a knife. (R20) Robinson then left the apartment and went to Cocoa Beach. He returned later, retrieved the body, and buried it near Apopka Boulevard in Orange County. (R20) The autopsy revealed that Silvia died as a result of skull fractures and brain injury due to blunt force trauma to the head. (R20-21) At the deposition, the medical examiner concluded that the first blow would have rendered Silvia unconscious and she undoubtedly suffered no pain.

On March 30, 1995, the trial court conducted a penalty phase without a jury. (R40-101) The State called Detective Griffin as their sole witness. (R46-69) Griffin played the taped interview of Michael Robinson in which Robinson admitted to killing Jane Silvia as set forth in the State's factual basis at the plea colloquy. (R51-67,228-40) Robinson told Detective Griffin that he loved Jane very much and that he deserved the death penalty for killing her. (R63-64) In an addendum to the interview, Robinson explained that his own mother had sent them some money to retrieve Silvia's electronic equipment. (R65) Silvia was keeping the money in her shoes for safekeeping. Robinson

gratuitously told Detective Griffin:

...So that was one of the reasons that I killed her, was to retrieve that money from her. I didn't want to go through any physical battle with her and have her call the police.

(R65) Robinson added that the "other reason" was to prevent Silvia from calling the police to press charges on the theft of her electronic equipment. (R65-66)

Relying on Koon v. Dugger3 defense counsel "proffered" mitigating evidence which they had received primarily through Dr. Berland's report and Mr. Robinson's mother. (R70-72) counsel expressed a belief that they could present evidence that Robinson was under an extreme emotional disturbance due to the loss of his job. Additionally, Robinson suffered from cocaine addiction and harbored a great fear that he would return to prison as a result of the theft he committed. (R71) Defense counsel also stated they could present evidence of Robinson's excellent behavior in jail, his cooperation with police, and lifelong substance abuse. (R71) Additionally, although sane at the time of the offense and competent to proceed, Robinson did suffer from mental illness. (R71-72) Defense counsel stated that they also would have presented significant testimony from Dr. Berland regarding Robinson's organic brain damage which originated at birth. Robinson suffered oxygen deprivation due to a very difficult delivery. (R74) Additionally, there were a number of incidents, including an automobile accident, a bicycle

³ <u>Koon v. Dugger</u>, 619 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1993).

accident, and a construction accident resulting in significant brain injury. (R74) Dr. Berland also expressed many concerns about Robinson's emotional health. (R74-75)

The court inquired and Mr. Robinson reiterated his desire to waive all potential mitigation. (R72) Additionally, Robinson expressed concern that the psychological evaluations mentioned his organic brain damage. (R72) Robinson attempted to minimize this evidence by pointing out that the doctors found him to be sane and competent to stand trial. (R72-73)

The defense ultimately entered both Dr. Berland's and Dr. Kirkland's reports into evidence. (R75-76) Defense counsel told the trial court that Dr. Berland was available by telephone if the court had any questions as a result of the limited proffer. (R75-76) At the conclusion of the defense proffer, Robinson reiterated:

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I just want to make it clear, I don't want any mitigators considered by the court.

THE COURT: I understand you.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, ma'am.

THE COURT: For the record, I would say that you appear to be well groomed and well spoken and focused. I've never seen anyone quite so determined to die in the electric chair but you appear to have your mind set and nothing about your appearance would make me believe that you're not competent.

⁴ Robinson had personally requested that Dr. Berland not appear at trial. (R76)

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Your Honor.

(R76)

After the State's closing argument, defense counsel indicated that, if allowed by Mr. Robinson, counsel would have presented evidence and argument contesting all three of the aggravating circumstances urged by the State. (R92) Then, at counsel's prompting, Robinson expressed his desire to stipulate that the aggravating circumstances be found by the court beyond a reasonable doubt. (R93)

The State then presented brief testimony from the victim's brother who told the court that Robinson had "destroyed my family." (R95) The brother also told the trial court how proud Jane Silvia would have been if she had lived to see her son graduate high school. (R95-96) The family asked the judge to "take care of business for us, please." (R95)

On April 12, 1995, the trial court sentenced Michael
Robinson to die in Florida's electric chair. (R102-109) The
court rendered a sentencing order finding three aggravating
circumstances: (1) witness elimination; (2) pecuniary gain; and
(3) heightened premeditation. (R257-60) The trial court
referred to the proffered mitigating factors and, "as requested
by the Defendant, the Court has not considered the mitigators."
(R261) The court concluded that the aggravating circumstances
would not have been outweighed by any potential mitigating
circumstances and granted Michael Robinson's death wish. (R26162) Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on April 12, 1995.

(R265) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly sentenced Robinson to death. At the Defendant's request, the trial court improperly agreed to ignore substantial, valid, uncontroverted mitigating evidence.

Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993) controls. Mitigating evidence must be considered and weighed when contained anywhere on the record, to the extent that it is believable and uncontroverted. This dictate applies with no less force when the defendant argues in favor of the death penalty, even when the defendant asks the trial court not to consider mitigating evidence. Robinson's record is full of substantial, valid mitigating evidence.

Appellant also contends that the State failed to prove the three aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt.

Robinson was seeking a death sentence in this case. Therefore, his self-serving confession lacks credibility on this issue.

The State's evidence did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Robinson committed the murder for pecuniary gain. Robinson had as much right to the money as the victim. Robinson's own mother sent the money to the couple. They both had dominion and control of the funds. Furthermore, Robinson took the money as an afterthought following the murder. Robinson did not commit the murder in order to accomplish the theft.

The State also failed to prove the requisite "heightened premeditation." Robinson was a brain-damaged crack addict who was involved in a relationship with the victim. He was confused,

scared, and emotional. He feared a return to prison. His actions prior to the murder are just as consistent with a man vacillating rather than coolly contemplating.

The victim was not a law enforcement officer. In such cases, the State must prove that the primary or dominant motive for the murder was to eliminate a witness. The State failed to meet the requisite burden of proof in this case.

Finally, this Court should recede from <u>Hamblen v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988). The trial court allowed Robinson to waive the presentation of mitigating evidence. <u>Hamblen</u> approves such a process. The trial court need not appoint special counsel to present evidence and argument for a life sentence. The requirements placed on the trial court and this Court to examine the mitigation in order to ensure the fair application of death sentences is inconsistent with the <u>Hamblen</u> holding. If mitigating evidence is not presented, the trial court and this Court cannot discharge their duties to review the propriety of the death sentence.

ARGUMENT

Michael Robinson discusses below the reasons which, he respectfully submits, compel the reversal of his convictions and death sentence. Each issue is predicated on the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 9, 16, 17, and 22 of the Florida Constitution, and such other authority as is set forth.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO FOLLOW THIS COURT'S DICTATE IN FARR V. STATE⁵ AND AFFIRMATIVELY IGNORED VALID MITIGATION RENDERING ROBINSON'S DEATH SENTENCE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS AND ARTICLE I, SECTIONS 9, 16, AND 17 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF FLORIDA.

Early in the proceedings, Michael Lee Robinson made it abundantly clear that he wanted to be executed for his crime. One week after his arrest, against the advice of counsel, Robinson gave a full confession and told Detective Griffin that "the electric chair is, you know, what I would like to be given as punishment." (R238) More than three months before the guilty plea, defense counsel advised the court that Robinson has a "desire to have the death penalty imposed and he makes no bones about that." (SR27) Although no one appeared to question Robinson's mental state, all parties seemed very concerned that

⁵ <u>Farr v. State</u>, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993).

Robinson's competency to proceed should be clearly established on the record. (SR22-32; R2-5) Robinson voluntarily entered a plea of quilty as charged and asked the trial court to sentence him to death. (R1-39) Robinson also waived a jury for the penalty phase and instructed his lawyers not to present any evidence in mitigation. (R23-26,32-33,40-44) Robinson had spent time in prison and said would rather die than spend the rest of his life (R14-15) The parties below seemed to be aware of incarcerated. this Court's pronouncement in Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246, 250 (Fla. 1993). However, it is abundantly clear that the parties had no knowledge of this Court's decision in Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993).

To facilitate appellate review in these type of cases, this Court established the following procedure:

Although we find no error occurred here, we are concerned with the problems inherent in a trial record that does not adequately reflect a defendant's waiver of his right to present any mitigating evidence. Accordingly, we establish the following prospective rule to be applied in such a situation. When a defendant, against his counsel's advice, refuses to permit the presentation of mitigating evidence in the penalty phase, counsel must inform the court on the record of the defendant's decision. Counsel must indicate whether, based on his investigation, he reasonably believes there to be mitigating evidence that could be presented and what that evidence would be. The court should then require the defendant to confirm on the record that his counsel has discussed these matters with him, and despite counsel's recommendation, he wishes to waive presentation of penalty phase evidence.

<u>Koon v. Dugger</u>, 619 So.2d at 250. The parties below did follow the procedure set forth above.

Unfortunately, the trial court was under the mistaken impression that she was obligated to ignore valid mitigating evidence. The trial court was not completely to blame for this error. Both defense counsel and the prosecutor erroneously advised the trial court that the court must not consider valid mitigation.

MR. IRWIN (DEFENSE COUNSEL): ...we are basically required to proffer to the court...mitigators, statutory or non-statutory...and we can make his voluntary understanding waiver possible on the record.

THE COURT: And then if he waives that, then I am to ignore that?

THE DEFENDANT: Right.

THE COURT: I've got to forget that.

MR. ASHTON (PROSECUTOR): I think we may have a legal issue here. My reading of the case is that simply the attorneys proffer the area. I don't think it was intended that an entire evidentiary hearing by way of proffer be made because the court has to ignore it...

(R33-34) (emphasis added)

At the subsequent penalty phase, defense counsel proffered the areas of mitigating evidence that they would have explored and presented to the court if allowed by Mr. Robinson. (R70-76) At the conclusion of the proffer, the Defendant told the court:

THE DEFENDANT: Your Honor, I just want to make it clear, I don't want any

mitigators considered by the court.

THE COURT: I understand you.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, ma'am.

THE COURT: For the record, I would say that you appear to be well groomed and well spoken and focused. I've never seen anyone quite so determined to die in the electric chair but you appear to have your mind set and nothing about your appearance would make me believe that you're not competent.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, Your Honor.

(R76) After the state argued in favor of three aggravating circumstances, defense counsel proffered that, if permitted by the Defendant, counsel would have argued against all of the aggravating circumstances urged by the State. (R92) Mr. Robinson then stipulated that the evidence supported the aggravating circumstances and asked the trial court to find them beyond a reasonable doubt. (R93)

In sentencing Robinson to death, the trial court stated that it had "very carefully considered and weighed the aggravating circumstances and satisfied itself that any potential mitigating circumstances proffered would not have affected the life or death decision in this case..." (R106) In its sentencing order, the trial court stated that it had reviewed the presentence investigation report. (R256) However, the trial court focused mostly on the procedural history of the case, specifically Robinson's insistence that his lawyers refrain from presenting any mitigating evidence. (R255-56) The trial court then

concluded that the State had proved three aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. (R257-60) In dealing with the **potential** mitigating factors, the trial court wrote:

THIS COURT HEARD THE PROFFER presented by the attorneys for the Defendant of mitigators they would have presented if the Defendant had permitted. The Defendant confirmed this desire on the record repeatedly. statutory and non-statutory mitigators would have been that the defendant was in an extreme emotional state at the time of the offense, that he suffered from cocaine addiction, that he was afraid he'd go to prison, that he'd lost his job, he had a good jail record, he cooperated with the detectives and took them to the crime scene, that he suffered from mental defects according to Dr. Kirkland and Dr. Berland, and that he was remorseful.

Of greatest concern to this Court was Michael Robinson's competency and history of mental health. The Defendant did allow the reports of Doctors Kirkland and Berland into evidence for consideration. Although he has had some head injuries and possible genetic mental illness, nothing about the Defendant today or the date of the murder or the date of the plea indicates he is not competent to participate in these court proceedings or that he was not totally aware of what he was doing at the time of the offense or the ramifications of those actions. He is well above average intelligence.

As to his other mitigators, there is evidence that the Defendant was afraid he'd go to prison, but that is not something that rises to a mitigator in this case. He did cooperate with the detectives but only after his first statement proved untrue. There is some evidence he had a cocaine problem since the state's evidence is that he traded the victim's property for cocaine.

There is no evidence at all that the other proffered mitigators exist; and, as requested by the Defendant, the Court has not considered the mitigators.

(R260-61) (Bolded emphasis in original, underlined emphasis supplied)

The trial court <u>clearly</u> erred when, at the request of the Defendant, the court declined to consider the mitigating evidence. The trial court plainly states in its written findings of fact, "...as requested by the Defendant, the Court has not considered the mitigators." (R261) The trial court took this tack despite the existence of valid mitigating evidence. The trial court's deliberate disregard of substantial, valid mitigating evidence flies in the face of this Court's holding in Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993).

In <u>Hamblen v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), this Court pointed out that:

The rights, responsibilities and procedures set forth in our constitution and statutes have not been suspended simply because the accused invites the possibility of a death sentence. A defendant cannot be executed unless his guilt and the propriety of his sentence have been established according to law.

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