IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE FEB 5 1996 COURT

MICHAEL L. ROBINSON,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 85,605

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Margene A. Roper Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar # 0302015 444 Seabreeze Boulevard Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The sentencing court fully complied with the dictates of *Farr v. State*, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993), and considered all possible mitigation apparent from the record, psychiatric evaluations and the P.S.I. Appellant really complains that the lower court did not refer to proffered mitigation as though it were established mitigation.

II. The state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. The defendant stated that he had killed the victim to retrieve money she had been sent. Robinson had no right to such money, it having been sent to the victim as a form of restitution for his theft of her property.

III. The sentencing judge properly found that the murder was committed to avoid a lawful arrest. The victim was going to initiate theft charges against the defendant and he indicated that he killed her to prevent her from thereby sending him to prison again.

IV. The state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The evidence reflects that the idea of murdering the victim occurred to the defendant when he learned that he could not get her stolen property back and she would initiate charges against him.

Defendant's actions in procuring a weapon and waiting for her to drift off to sleep then methodically and without emotion killing her with a hammer exhibit the heightened premeditation necessary to sustain a finding in aggravation of CCP.

V. This Court has declined to recede from its decision in . Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), on numerous occasions, and this occasion should be no different.

ARGUMENT

1. THE SENTENCING COURT FULLY COMPLIED WITH THE DICTATES OF FARE v. STATE AND CONSIDERED ALL POSSIBLE MITIGATION.

As his first point on appeal, Appellant argues that the dictates of *Farr v*, *State*, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993), were not complied with by the lower court as the sentencing judge was under the mistaken impression that she was obligated to ignore valid mitigating evidence. Appellant contends that the lower court declined to consider the mitigating evidence at the request of the defendant and cites, in support thereof, a passage from the written sentencing order which indicates " as requested by the Defendant, the Court has not considered the mitigators." (R 260-61).

Appellant contends that the record contains substantial, uncontroverted mitigating evidence. Appellant complains that the lower court asked Dr. Kirkland to examine him only to corroborate that he was competent to proceed and Dr. Kirkland, therefore, did not attempt to develop any mitigating evidence, although his report reveals that Robinson has a lengthy history of abuse of alcohol and other drugs. D. Ex. 1. Appellant relies also on the report of Dr. Berland as establishing mitigating circumstances: chronic, psychotic disturbance of genetic origin involving thought disorder and mood disturbance; antisocial character disturbance mediated by

manic disturbance; episodes of depression and manic disturbances; and bilateral cerebral cortical impairment or organic brain damage. Appellant also contends that the record reflects extreme remorse and that his confession reveals his extreme emotional state at the time he committed the murder. Appellate counsel also urges the Court to review the PSI which he claims contains a plethora of substantial mitigating evidence, adding to the list of nonstatutory mitigating factors ignored by the sentencing court, supporting the statutory mitigating factor of no significant prior criminal history and corroborating the difficult family history and substantial brain damage.

Appellant further accuses the lower court of rubber-stamping the state's position on the aggravating circumstances in contravention of *Hamblen v. State*, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), and allowing the defendant to stipulate that the state had proved the aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt.

Appellant concludes that this Court must vacate his death sentence and remand for a new penalty phase where the sentencing court must weigh all available mitigating evidence against the aggravating factors. IBA pp. 11-25

In Farr v. State, 621 So.2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993), this Court indicated that a trial court is required to consider any evidence

of mitigation in the record, including a psychiatric evaluation and presentence investigation. The Court further stated "We repeatedly have stated that mitigating evidence must be considered and weighed when contained anywhere in the record, to the extent it is believable and uncontroverted. That requirement applies with no less force when a defendant argues in favor of the death penalty, and even if the defendant asks the court not to consider mitigating evidence." 621 So.2d at 1369. The dictates of *Farr* were complied with in this case.

The only evidence cited by Appellant in support of his claim that the sentencing judge did not consider mitigating evidence is one statement, taken out of context, from the written sentencing order which indicates " As requested by the Defendant, the Court has not considered the mitigators." This isolated aside would seem only to refer, standing alone, to the lack of evidence to support other proffered mitigators, which mitigators could not properly be considered by the court, the result defendant desired for all proffered mitigation. The balance of the order reflects careful consideration of all possible mitigation.

The lower court first listed the statutory and nonstatutory mitigation proffered by defense counsel (R 260). The court next, in compliance with *Campbell v. State*, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990),

evaluated each mitigating circumstance proposed by Appellant's counsel to determine whether it was supported by the evidence and whether it was truly of a mitigating nature. Such evaluation would have been unnecessary if the lower court had simply decided not to entertain mitigation at the defendant's behest, as Appellant now contends. The court then concluded:

THE COURT HAS VERY CAREFULLY considered and weighed the aggravating circumstances and satisfied itself that any potential mitigating circumstances proffered would not have affected the life or death decision in this case, being ever mindful that human life is at stake in the balance. The court finds that the aggravating circumstances present in this case outweigh any potential mitigating circumstances.

(R 261-62).

The above statement of the lower court, as well as its specific findings in mitigation, would clearly indicate that the court had considered and weighed the mitigation in the sentencing balance.

The Appellant seems to take umbrage not at the actions or analysis of the lower court but at the fact that the lower court in its order did not refer to proffered mitigation in terms of it being established mitigation, which is not the case. In *Pettit v*. *State*, 591 So.2d 618, 620 (Fla. 1992), this Court stated "the trial judge must carefully analyze the *possible* statutory and nonstatutory mitigating factors against the aggravators to assure

that death is appropriate." That is exactly what was done in this case and it was determined that the aggravating circumstances present outweighed any potential mitigating circumstances.

it clear that the lower court considered the reports of Doctors Kirkland and Berland as the sentencing order indicates that the court had reviewed them (R 256;261). At the penalty phase defense counsel only argued that there was "some evidence" of mental illness which Dr. Berland discussed in his report (R 71-72). Dr. Kirkland's psychiatric report indicates that Robinson has no psychiatric history aside from drug and alcohol abuse and that the mental status exam showed no abnormality of emotional tone or thought process. Dr. Kirkland is a psychiatrist, director of psychiatry at an intensive treatment unit, and is a diplomate of the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology at Florida Hospital center for psychiatry. Dr. Berland is much lesser-credentialed. He is not a doctor at all, of medicine, but has a PH.D. in psychology. His report was less than conclusive and spoke in terms of evidence of both mental illness and antisocial character disturbance, which is incongruous ((see, Card v. State, 453 So.2d (Fla 1984) (testimony of psychologist that defendant was a 17 sociopathic personality did not establish any particular mitigating circumstance)); evidence of brain damage; and symptoms of mental

illness associated with biological defects in brain functioning. Berland makes no actual diagnosis at all. Dr. Berland noted that despite these "symptoms" Robinson "provided me with a lengthy and remarkably detailed account of his actions and the events leading up to and including the offense to which he has recently pled quilty." Dr. Berland found that "It was evident from both the actions that he described and from his reports of his thoughts at the time that he was clearly aware of the nature, the immediate consequences, and the wrongfulness of his actions at the time of this offense." Additionally, Robinson denied recent substance abuse. Testing also revealed that Robinson fell into the superior The sentencing court properly range of intelligence. D.Ex 1 considered these reports and did find possible genetic mental illness to be mitigating, although tempered by the fact that nothing indicates that Robinson was not totally aware of what he was doing at the time of the offense or the ramifications of those actions. That the court considered this in mitigation is obvious from the statement following its analysis: "... As to his other mitigators." (R 261). Appellant simply guarrels with the weight given to this nonstatutory mitigator. The weight to be given a mitigator to the death penalty, however, is left to the trial judge's discretion. Mann v. State, 603 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 1992).

The sentencing court did not focus solely on Robinson's sanity at the time of the murder and competence to proceed, as argued above. The issue of sanity is, however, relevant to mental health mitigation. *Ponticelli v. State*, 593 So.2d 483 (Fla. 1991). Considering the nature of the experts' reports, even if the sentencing order could be construed as not finding mental health mitigation the sentencing court still fulfilled its sentencing obligation pursuant to *Durocher v. State*, 604 So.2d 810, 812 (Fla. 1992), as the judge "carefully considered and weighed all of the evidence that could be gleaned from Robinson's statements, from the reports of the mental health experts who examined him and from counsel's statement in court."

The sentencing court also found in mitigation that Robinson did cooperate with the detectives but such finding was tempered by the fact that Robinson did so only after his first statement proved untrue. The court also considered and found evidence of a cocaine problem (R 261).

The lower court properly found no evidence of the existence of the other proffered mitigators. While Robinson's desire for punishment is fitting, the lower court observed no real remorse and noted "Even to this day, when the Defendant described the murder, he does so in a matter-of-fact manner with no emotion. He

describes the sound of the hammer hitting her head--like a watermelon, blood gurgling from her mouth, all with no emotion." (R 260). There was no evidence at all that Robinson was in an extreme emotional state at the time of the murders either in the record or the doctors' reports. The record reflects this to be just the opposite, a cold-blooded, calculated, ruthless, crime committed to avoid returning to prison. The crime was also committed by a defendant of superior intelligence and "evidence" of "possible" organic brain damage is hardly sufficient to establish that this fully contemplated murder was committed by one in an extreme emotional state. Cf. Roberts v. State, 510 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1987). No evidence was introduced or appears in the record concerning Robinson' worry about losing his job or that he had a good jail record. Such evidence would be entitled to no weight, in any event. Robinson had been in custody before and obviously chose not to benefit from it. A finding of any of these "mitigators" would be in the context of only "nonstatutory" mitigation, if it rose to the level of mitigation at all, they would be entitled to minuscule weight, would have no appreciable effect upon the sentencing balance, and any error in not finding such factors is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

The sentencing court properly found that Robinson's fear of going to prison, which actually prompted the murder, was not something that rose to the level of a mitigator (R 261).

Appellant covertly argues the existence of mitigation in the PSI while ostensibly still keeping such information private. Appellee will respond, of necessity, to all areas implicated in the PSI in Appellant's brief. The written sentencing order reflects that the judge did review the PSI (R 256). The PSI in possession of Appellee does not contain a plethora of substantial mitigating evidence. It contains no difficult family history, save for the family moving around a bit due to the father's job, a fact that the sentencing court was already aware of from Robinson's statements before it. The PSI hardly removes brain damage from the realm of mere hypothesis based on the self-reporting of Robinson, especially where "Defendant did not attempt to offer any of these incidents as an excuse for his behavior." The mitigating circumstance of no significant history of prior criminal activity need not be found even where there are only misdemeanor offenses and charges. Funchess v. Wainwright, 772 F.2d 683 (11th Cir. 1985). The mitigating factor of no significant criminal activity may also be rebutted by record evidence of criminal activity, including drug activity. Slawson v. State, 619 So.2d 255 (Fla. 1993).

The sentencing court hardly rubber-stamped the state's position on the existence of aggravating circumstances or allowed the defendant to stipulate to them. Although such factors are based on the Appellant's confession and in-court statements that is in the nature of guilty plea proceedings and is not the equivalent of accepting a stipulation. Confessions admitted into evidence at trial also provide a basis for finding aggravating circumstances. Considering the admissions of Appellant any such stipulation would be superfluous, in any event. The sentencing order reflects careful and independent analysis by the sentencing judge and this issue is without merit. II. THE STATE PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED FOR PECUNIARY GAIN.

To establish the capital sentencing aggravating factor that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain the state must prove pecuniary motivation for the murder. *Clark v. State*, 609 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1992). Such motivation has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt in this case.

The sentencing court found the pecuniary gain aggravator to be clearly applicable in this case. The written sentencing order reflects the following reasoning.

> The defendant knew the victim had \$100 in her His mother had sent it to her so she shoes. could retrieve her stolen property. She had already spent \$20 of the money. She used that to pay a debt of the Defendant. Prior to the killing, the Defendant had no money. He'd stolen Jane's property to get drugs. His own mother had sent Jane the money to pay to get her property back. The Defendant admits he took the money from her shoes after he killed Although not the primary reason for her. killing Jane Silvia, even the Defendant admits in his own statement to the police, "...so that was one of the reasons that I, uh, killed Не her was to retrieve that money from her." reiterated this later in his statement. Consequently, this aggravator is proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

(R 258-259).

In a supplement to Robinson's second August 16, 1994, statement Robinson indicated that after he had killed Jane he took what was left of the money his mother had sent them, approximately one hundred dollars. Jane had told him it was in her shoes. Robinson stated "that was one of the reasons that I killed her, was to retrieve that money from her. I didn't want to go through any physical battle with her and have her call the police." (R 66). Jane had told Robinson she had the money in her shoes when one of the drug dealers came to the car and told her that Robinson owed him twenty dollars. Jane got a twenty dollar bill out of one of her shoes and gave it to him. Robinson saw Jane separate some of the money and put some in each shoe. Robinson reiterated to the authorities that "Like I said, just, you know, the reason I killed her was to basically stay out of jail and to retrieve the money." (R 67).

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